Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 1 of 23

FILED 08-01-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

1 1 2000 1 7000 60 1

Appeal No. 2022AP000634

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

WARNER E. SOLOMON,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Wynne P. Laufenberg Presiding

Gabriel Houghton State Bar No. 1083255

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant 3124 S. 32nd St., Milwaukee, WI (414) 426-6040

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the circuit court erred when it denied Solomon's Fourth Amendment Motion to Suppress Evidence, which challenged (1) the search of the vehicle, (2) the extension of the stop, and (3) the canine's immediate entry into the vehicle to conduct a dog sniff.

The circuit court denied the motion after an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs should address the issue presented on this appeal adequately, and oral argument would be of "marginal value." Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(2)(b).

Solomon's claim rests on established authority and publication will probably not be justified. Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Solomon was charged by Criminal Complaint filed February 22, 2019 with two counts of Possession of a Firearm by a Felon under Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(a); one count of Possession with Intent to Deliver Cocaine (> 40 grams), Second or Subsequent Offense under Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)4 and 961.48(1)(a); and one count of Possession of Drug Paraphernalia under Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1). (R.1:1-2; App 3-4.)

After waiving his preliminary hearing on March 27, 2019, Solomon was bound over for trial. (R.92:3.) Defense counsel filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Evidence on September 5, 2019, and another motion, expanding on arguments made in the first, on October 1, 2019. (R.32; 33.) An evidentiary hearing on the motions was held on December 2, 2019. (R.89; App 9-65.) After further briefing, the circuit court orally denied the motion at a decision hearing held on February 14, 2020. (R.91; App 66-77.)

Pursuant to plea negotiations, Solomon pled no contest to count 1, Possession of a Firearm, and count 3, Possession with Intent to Deliver Cocaine (> 40 grams), without the enhancer, and the remaining counts were dismissed but read in. (R.83:2, 10.) He was sentenced to four years on count 1 (two years initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision), and ten years on count 2 (five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision). (R.72:24; 70:1.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The probable cause section of the Criminal Complaint alleges that on February 21, 2019, Solomon was stopped while driving a vehicle by Deputy [Anthony] Valenti. (R.1:3; App 5.) Deputy Valenti searched the vehicle and found "a large amount of cash in a Ziploc bag in the center console." (Id.) "K9 Officer Titan" also searched the vehicle and "located" a backpack behind the driver's seat, which contained two handguns, digital scales, and five baggies of a substance that field-tested positive for cocaine and weighed 92.5 grams. (Id.) According to the Complaint, Solomon took responsibility for everything in the

vehicle. (Id.)

Solomon's Motion to Suppress Evidence raised three grounds for granting the relief sought: (1) the vehicle was unlawfully searched; (2) the stop was impermissibly extended for a K9 drug-sniffing dog to arrive; and (3) the K9's immediate entry into the vehicle upon arriving at the scene of the stop was unlawful. (R.33:1-9.)

Hearing on Motion to Suppress

The arresting officer, Deputy Valenti of the Racine County Sheriff's Office, was the sole witness at the hearing on Solomon's motion to suppress. He testified on direct examination that at 12:00 p.m. on February 21, 2019, he stopped a black GMC Yukon for speeding, approached the driver side of the vehicle, and made contact with the driver, Solomon, and a passenger, Solomon's brother. (R.89:4-5, 8; App 12-13, 16.) Deputy Valenti testified that he "could immediately smell the strong odor of burnt marijuana emitting from the vehicle." (R.89:5-6; App 13-14.) Based on the odor of marijuana he "called for a cover squad so that [he] could pull both occupants out of the vehicle and then conduct a hand search of the vehicle." (R.89:6; App 14.)

While waiting for the cover squad to arrive, Deputy Valenti performed background checks of the criminal histories of Solomon and his brother and began typing a speeding citation. (R:89:7; App 15.) When the cover officer, Officer Aguillar of the Racine Police Department, arrived on scene, they handcuffed Solomon and put him in Deputy Valenti's squad car; the passenger was also handcuffed and place in Officer Aguillar's squad. (R:89:8; App 16.)

Deputy Valenti began searching the driver's side compartment, while Officer Aguillar requested a canine officer to respond to the scene. (Id.) Deputy Valenti found a large amount of cash in a ziplock bag in the center console and then stopped searching the vehicle. (R.89:9-10; App 17-18.) He expressed concerns about "hidden compartments" based on the premise that "a lot of drug trafficking and movement operations" use them, and that a dog might be able to locate such compartments. (R.89:10; App 18.)

The canine officer, Officer Arvai, arrived and, after being briefed by Deputy Valenti, had his dog search the vehicle. (R.89:12; App 20.) Deputy Valenti stood in front of his squad car while Officer Arvai's canine searched the vehicle. (Id.) The canine apparently alerted to a backpack which, when searched by Deputy Valenti, contained 92.5 grams of cocaine, two firearms, and a digital scale. (R.89:13; App 21.) Deputy Valenti did not recall how long it took from the start of the traffic stop until Solomon was arrested but that a vehicle search generally takes 35 to 50 minutes to perform. (R.89:15; App 23.)

On cross-examination, Deputy Valenti confirmed that he stopped Solomon at 12:00 p.m. During his initial conversation with Solomon and the passenger, he ascertained that Solomon was lawfully driving the vehicle and had a valid driver's license. (R.89:15-16; App 23-24.) He denied observing any furtive movements at all by Mr. Solomon or the passenger as he approached the vehicle. (R.89:17; App 25.) He obtained Solomon and the passenger's identification cards and requested backup. (Id.) After reviewing the call detail report, which was entered at the hearing as Exhibit 1, he confirmed that he requested a cover officer at 12:05 p.m. (R.89:18; 38:2; App 26; 78.)

Deputy Valenti performed background checks on Solomon and his brother and found that they both had prior drug-related convictions. (R.89:19; App 27.) When asked if the prior convictions heightened his suspicions about whether there were drugs in the car, he responded: "Yeah. I mean, if they do have a drug history, absolutely. Yes." (R.89:20; App 28.)

Deputy Valenti acknowledged that he was "trained to distinguish between the odor of burnt marijuana and fresh marijuana," and that he only smelled burnt marijuana. (R.89:20-21; App 28-29.) When asked if the smell of burnt marijuana was coming from one person in particular, he testified that it was coming from Solomon's brother. (R.89:21;

¹ Exhibit 1, which can be found at page 78 of Defendant-Appellant's Appendix, indicates that Deputy Valenti requested a cover officer at 12:05:25.

8

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 9 of 23

App 29.)

Deputy Valenti did not believe that either Solomon or his brother were impaired or under the influence of marijuana. (R.89:21; App 29.) When he detained Solomon's brother, he asked him why he smelled like marijuana to which the brother replied that he had smoked marijuana an hour before Solomon "picked him up while he was at work." (R.89:22; App 30.) Deputy Valenti testified that the vehicle "still smelled like marijuana when I went to search" it (Id.)

Officer Aguillar called for the canine officer "[r]ight after [Deputy Valenti] started searching the driver's compartment." (Id.) Referring to the call detail report, he confirmed that the canine officer, Officer Arvai, was dispatched at 12:21 p.m. (12:21:29) (R.89:23; App 31; 78.) Deputy Valenti indicated that he told both officers that Solomon and his brother had lengthy criminal histories. (R.89:23; App 31.) The following exchange then too place:

Question: And based upon that conversation, that

heightened your awareness that there might be some hidden compartment

within the vehicle?

Answer: Absolutely.

Question: Was there any other indication that you

had that there was a hidden compartment

inside that vehicle?

Answer: No. It's just common practice with drug

trafficking. My initial response because I found a large sum of money in the vehicle when I started my initial hand search is the reason that I assumed that this would be drug trafficking which entails hidden compartments. So in order to not take 45 minutes to hand search or rip apart a car, I requested a canine so the canine could detail the car better than I am able to. (R.89:23-24; App 31-32.)

Deputy Valenti acknowledged that he had been trained to detect hidden compartments and taught to look for various indicia (e.g., retooled screws, aftermarket parts) of hidden Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 10 of 23

compartments, and had observed none. (R.89:24-25; App 32-33.)

Deputy Valenti did not observe any evidence of marijuana (shake, roaches) when he initially approached the vehicle or when he searched the vehicle, nor was any contraband found on Solomon or his brother when they were searched upon being detained. (R.89:25-26; App 33-34.)

Deputy Valenti testified that he stopped searching after he found the money in the center console because there was a canine available. (R.89:28-29; App 36-37.) Referring to the call detail report, he testified that it was 27 minutes from the beginning of the stop until the canine officer arrived, which was six minutes after the canine officer was requested. (R.89:29; App 37.) He conceded that he had not found anything illegal in the car or any indicia that the vehicle had hidden compartments when he terminated his search. (Id.) He explained his basis for believing there were hidden compartments:

I have the odor of marijuana, I have people in the vehicle with prior criminal history for possession with intent to deliver, we have a car that's not theirs which is common practice for drug trafficking, large sums of money which is common practice for selling narcotics, and then having large amounts of cash on your person. Those were all separate reasons of why I would call for a canine without the probable cause to search a vehicle based off of the odor of marijuana. (R.89:30-31; App 38-38.)

Later in the hearing, Deputy Valenti also testified that the time of day and the fact that "they advised that they were going to a store together" heightened his suspicions of drugtrafficking. (R.89:41; App 49.)

He acknowledged, however, that he did not find a large sum of money on Solomon's person, and that Solomon provided him with the name of the registered owner of the vehicle he was driving and an explanation for his use of it. (R.89:31; App 38.) Using footage from Deputy Valenti's body worn camera (entered as Exhibit 2), to refresh his recollection, defense counsel established that there was a title to a vehicle in the ziplock bag containing the money that was found in the center console. (R.89:34-36; R.111 at 18.47-18:54; App 42-

44.)

Deputy Valenti described what occurred between the start of the traffic stop, at 12:00 p.m., and the request for the canine officer at 12:21 p.m.:

Attempting to write a citation, waiting for back up. There was the initial conversation, there was pulling the driver and passenger out, doing a physical search of their persons, then they were detained, placed in the back of my squad and one was place in the back of Officer Aguilar's squad and the conversations between us and then I conducted – I began to conduct a hand search of the vehicle. (R.89:37-38.)

Between 12:18 p.m. and 12:19 p.m., the money and vehicle title were found in the ziplock bag in the center console. (R.89:38; App 46.) Then Deputy Valenti spoke with Officer Aguillar, during which time Deputy Valenti muted his body worn camera. (R.89:39; App 47.) Officer Aguillar called for the canine officer at 12:21 p.m. (Id.)

Officer Arvai arrived on scene at 12:27 p.m. (R.89:39.) Deputy Valenti testified that he did not watch Officer Arvai or his canine conduct the search, and did not know whether the dog went directly into the vehicle. (R.89:40; App 48.) His body worn camera video, however, which was entered into evidence as Exhibit 2 during the hearing, shows the dog leap into the vehicle at 26:07, immediately after Officer Arvai was briefed and opened the front driver's side door. (R.111 at 26:07.)

Decision Hearing

After additional briefing, and reviewing the exhibits, the circuit court issued its decision denying Solomon's motion on February 14, 2020. The court found that Solomon was stopped for speeding on February 21, 2019 in the middle of the day, and that there was a front seat passenger. (R.91:2-3; App 67-68.) Solomon provided his license but not insurance because the vehicle, a GMC Yukon, was his cousin's. (R.91:3; App 68.) The passenger was also provided his driver's license "because of a suspected seatbelt violation." (Id.) The court indicated that Deputy Valenti "is then seen going back to his squad car and requesting backup because during the stop of the Yukon, he

smells THC." (Id.)

The court further found that Deputy Valenti ran background checks and started typing a citation, based on the video and his testimony. (Id.) While he is in his squad, a backup squad arrives and Deputy Valenti tells the responding officer of the reason for the stop, that he smelled THC, and that "one of the individuals has a lengthy criminal record that includes drug convictions." (R.91:3-4; App 68-69.) The officers then detained Solomon and the passenger in separate squads. (R.91:4; App 69.)

According to the circuit court, the passenger says that he smoked in the vehicle an hour ago when "asked if THC is in the vehicle." (Id.) Officer Valenti begins his search of the front area of the vehicle and has an "audible reaction" when he finds the "bag of cash in the console." (Id.) The court indicated that the "[o]fficer goes on to say I'm not going to touch the car any more then," in response to the other officer saying they're sending something, which the court could not make out. (Id.)

The court found that the screen went black and there is no further audio.² (Id.) When the video resumes, "a canine unit is on scene. The dog is let inside the car. There is no video of any circling of the automobile by the dog at that point. Within a minute or two the dog and the canine officer being in and around the vehicle, the canine officer removes the backpack from the vehicle," which is subsequently searched on the hood of the squad car. (R.91:4-5; App 69-70.)

The court noted that there is a reference by the officer of the presence of cologne smell, which the court surmises is a "cover spray," though the officer "doesn't really explain that to his fellow officer." (R.91:6; App 71.) The court indicates that Deputy Valenti has this information, as well as the smell of marijuana and information on Solomon's criminal record, to support his search of the vehicle, and cites *State v. Secrist* for the proposition "that the unmistakable odor of THC from an

² It should be noted that the video is continuous in the copy of Exhibit 2 of Deputy Valenti's body camera video that appellate counsel obtained from the clerk of circuit court after filing a motion and obtaining an order for it in the circuit court. (R. 96; 100.) The audio portion of the exhibit appellate counsel received does stop at 20:44.

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 13 of 23

automobile provides probable cause for an officer to believe the automobile contains evidence of a crime." (R.91:6-7; App 71-72.)

The court stated that the warrantless search of a car is permissible when two prongs are met: (1) there is probable cause to search the car; and (2) "the fact that the car was readily mobile." (R.91:7; App 72.) The court concluded that the initial search of the car was permissible because Deputy Valenti smelled THC, he had the information about Solomon's criminal history, "and the passenger admitted to the police officer that he used THC in the vehicle." (Id.) The court also appears to consider the "bag of cash" to increase the quantum of probable cause supporting the search. (R.91:8; App 73.)

The court further found that "[i]t's no surprise that the canine goes into the vehicle immediately because there's already been an admission by the passenger that there was THC; that he smoked THC within that vehicle." (Id.) Finally, the court held that the wait for the canine unit "did not extend the purpose of the mission of the stop." (R.91:9; App 74.)

After the court denied Solomon's motion, defense counsel raised an issue with its findings of fact. Specifically, in the defense's pleadings based on police reports and the officer's testimony, the passenger said that he smoked marijuana before entering the vehicle. (R.91:9-10; App 74-75.) The court indicated that it had taken specific notes while watching the video but whether the passenger smoked before or after entering the vehicle would not change its ruling. (R.91:10; App 75.)

ARGUMENT

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from unreasonable searches. "[W]arrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions." *State v. Sanders*, 2008 WI 85,¶27,311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713. The state bears the burden of proving that an exception to the warrant requirement exists. *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 29, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 14 of 23

N.W.2d 568. The remedy for an unlawful search or seizure is the suppression of the evidence obtained thereby. *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487 (1963).

A trial court's findings of fact are upheld on appellate review unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Patton*, 2006 WI App 235, ¶ 7, 297 Wis. 2d 415, 724 N.W.2d 347. Whether a search or seizure is constitutional, however, is reviewed independently of the circuit court's conclusions. *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d 201, ¶ 11, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999) (citations omitted). The application of constitutional principles by appellate courts to the trial court's findings is de novo. *State v. Grady*, 2009 WI 47, ¶ 13, 317 Wis. 2d 344, 766 N.W.2d 729.

I. THIS **COURT SHOULD REVERSE** THE **CIRCUIT COURT'S DENYING ORDER SUPPRESSION BECAUSE** THE VEHICLE SOLOMON WAS DRIVING WAS UNLAWFULLY SEARCHED.

Vehicles may be searched without a warrant pursuant to the automobile exception to the warrant requirement if probable cause exists to believe that it contains evidence of a crime. *Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d at ¶ 16. Wisconsin courts have held that the "unmistakable odor of marijuana" emanating from an automobile provides such evidence. *Id*.

In *Secrist*, the issue was "whether the odor of a controlled substance may provide probable cause to arrest." *Id.* at \P 2. The defendant, Timothy Secrist, the sole occupant of a tan 1977 Chevrolet Impala, drove up to an officer directing traffic during a Fourth of July parade and asked for directions through his open driver's side window. *Id.* at \P 3. "The officer immediately smelled a strong odor of marijuana coming from the automobile," told Secrist to pull over, and placed him under arrest. *Id.* at \P 3-4. Another officer subsequently searched the Impala and found "a marijuana cigarette with an attached 'roach clip' in the ashtray next to the driver's seat." *Id.* at \P 5.

In reaching its conclusion that the odor of marijuana coming from an automobile provides probable cause to search it, the *Secrist* court cited numerous cases from other

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-01-2022 Page 15 of 23

jurisdictions. *Id.* at ¶ 17. In *State v. Judge*, for example, the Superior Court of New Jersey concluded that the odor of marijuana provided probable cause to search, stating that "it creates an inference that marijuana is not only physically present in the vehicle, but that some of it has been smoked recently." *Id.*, quoting *State v. Judge*, 275 N.J. Super. 194, 645 A.2d 1224, 1228 (1994).

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