Filed 10-31-2022

Page 1 of 23

FILED 10-31-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2022AP0634-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WARNER E. SOLOMON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WYNNE P. LAUFENBERG, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

that "there would have been probable cause to search the defendant's car once the officer smelled the strong odor of marijuana emanating from the vehicle." *Id.* at 210. The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Secrist* simply noted that "The unmistakable odor of marijuana coming from an automobile provides probable cause for an officer to believe that the automobile contains evidence of a crime." *Id.* 

Just as in *Secrist*, there was probable cause to search the car in this case. Deputy Valenti, who was trained in distinguishing between the smell of raw and burnt marijuana (R. 89:20–21), testified that he smelled the strong odor of burnt marijuana coming from the car (R. 89:6). Under *Secrist*, that odor alone was sufficient for probable cause to search the car. *Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d at 210.

Solomon seems to argue that under *Secrist*, since the odor of marijuana was not coming from him but from his brother, there was no probable cause to arrest him based on the odor alone. (Solomon's Br. 15–16.) But it makes no difference whether the officers could properly have arrested Solomon for the marijuana at that point because they did not do so. They had reasonable suspicion based on the odor of marijuana coming from the car and detained Solomon and his brother so that could search the car.<sup>3</sup> The issue is only whether there was probable cause to search the car. Under *Secrist*, there plainly was.

<sup>3</sup> Even if the detention were viewed as an arrest, there would be no violation because the officers could properly have arrested Solomon for the speeding offense.

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 14 of 23

Solomon argues that the odor was linked to his brother and there was no evidence that the odor was particularly strong or recent. (Solomon's Br. 16.) But again, an odor in the car is sufficient to search the car. *Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d at 210. And Deputy Valenti testified that he observed a "strong" odor of marijuana coming from the car. (R. 89:6.)

Solomon argues that there was no probable cause to search the car because his brother told the officers that he smoked marijuana before he got into the car. (Solomon's Br. 16.) But again, the odor of marijuana coming from the car was sufficient for probable cause. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d at 210. And the circuit court found as fact that Solomon's brother told the officers he smoked marijuana in the car. (R. 91:7–9.) Solomon has not shown that the circuit court's factual finding was clearly erroneous, and it was not. The body cam video that the court watched verifies that the court's finding was correct. When the officer asked Solomon's brother if he had smoked marijuana in the car, Solomon's brother answered something along the lines of "mm-hmm." (R. 111, Ex. 2, 13:58.) He then explained that he had been in the car and then had picked up Solomon. (R. 111, Ex. 2, 16:16–16:27.) In any event, the odor of marijuana coming from the car was sufficient for probable cause to search the car. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d at 210.

Solomon argues that the officers were acting on a hunch when they searched the car, and that they searched the car because they learned that Solomon and his brother had prior drug convictions. (Solomon's Br. 16.) But the officers' knowledge of the prior drug convictions was not the only basis for the search. And those convictions added to the probable cause that already existed because of the odor of marijuana coming from the car.

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 15 of 23

Solomon argues that other factors the officer noted, such as the time of day, and that neither Solomon nor his brother owned the car did not provide probable cause. (Solomon's Br. 17.) But without even considering those factors there was proable cause because of the odor of marijuana, the prior convictions, and Solomon's brother's admission to smoking marijuana in the car.

Solomon argues that the title to a vehicle in the baggie of cash provided an explanation for the cash. (Solomon's Br. 17.) But an officer is not required to accept a suspect's innocent explanation. *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). And a baggie of cash can be an indication of drug trafficking. *See e.g.*, *State v. Stank*, 2005 WI App 236, ¶ 34, 288 Wis. 2d 414, 708 N.W.2d 43. And again, there already was probable cause to search the car because of the odor of burnt marijuana coming from the car. The circuit court was therefore correct to deny Solomon's motion to suppress evidence.

### II. The traffic stop was not unlawfully extended for the dog sniff because there was probable cause to search the car.

Solomon asserts that the traffic stop was impermissibly extended for the dog sniff. (Solomon's Br. 17–20.) He relies on Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 350 (2015), in which the Supreme Court held that "a police stop exceeding the time to handle the matter for which the stop was made violates the Constitution's shield against unreasonable seizures." (Solomon's Br. 18.) Solomon points out that under Rodriguez, "Absent reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, a traffic stop becomes unreasonable and unlawful 'if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete th[e] mission' of issuing a traffic ticket." (Solomon's Br. 19 (citing *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354).)

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 16 of 23

Rodriguez has no bearing on this case because there was reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. In fact, there was probable cause. Therefore, even if the stop was extended to wait for the dog, there was no Fourth Amendment violation. See e.g., United States v Green, 897 F.3d 173, 187 (3rd Cir. 2018) (recognizing that since there was reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, "extending the traffic stop to facilitate a dog sniff was permissible" under Rodriguez).

Solomon claims that even if there was reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, there no longer was reasonable suspicion after Deputy Valenti "stopped searching the vehicle without finding any new evidence of crime." (Solomon's Br. 19.) He argues that "Any reasonable suspicion based on the odor of marijuana was dispelled when he found neither marijuana nor related paraphernalia during his search." (Solomon's Br. 19.)

Solomon cites no authority for the proposition that reasonable suspicion (or in this case probable cause) is dispelled when an officer performs a quick search of a vehicle, so it is impermissible to then wait a few minutes for a dog to perform a more thorough search. He cites nothing even suggesting that it is impermissible to conduct more than one search of a vehicle when there is probable cause of criminal activity.

Here, Deputy Valenti began to search the car, and he found a baggie with a "large amount" of cash in the center console. He then decided to discontinue the "hand search" of the vehicle and instead have the dog search the car. Deputy Valenti testified that vehicles used for drug trafficking often have "hidden compartments" that "can be missed by basic hand search." (R. 89:8, 23–24.) He said a hand search for evidence in hidden compartments would involve "rip[ping] apart" the car and might have taken 45 minutes. (R. 89:24.) He testified that he "would have continued the search if there was no canine available, but we had one so why not use it as

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 17 of 23

a tool at my disposal." (R. 89:29.) Deputy Valenti testified that he had not completed his search when the dog was called. (R. 89:10.)

It took around six minutes for the dog to arrive. But since there was probable cause of criminal activity, the short delay did not impermissibly extend the traffic stop. As the circuit court recognized, the initial search by Deputy Valenti and the canine search were justified and did not violate the Fourth Amendment. (R. 91:8–9.) The circuit court was therefore correct to deny Solomon's motion to suppress evidence.

### III. The dog's "immediate entry" into the car did not violate the Fourth Amendment.

Solomon claims that the dog's sniff of the car's interior was a search, and that the dog's "immediate entry" into the car rendered it an unreasonable search. (Solomon's Br. 20–22.) He argues that "Deputy Valenti did not find anything illegal during his search inside the vehicle," so "there was no reasonable basis for the canine to immediately enter the vehicle." (Solomon's Br. 22.)

There is no dispute that the dog's sniff of the interior of the car was a search—it plainly was. But the dog's immediate entry into the car did not make the search unreasonable. There was probable cause for the officer, the dog, or both to search the car. The officer smelled a strong odor of burnt marijuana coming from the car, Solomon's brother admitted to smoking marijuana in the car, both the driver and passenger had drug convictions. (R. 91:7–9.) As the circuit court recognized, this information was sufficient for probable cause to search the car. (R. 91:7–9.) Then, when the officer performed an initial hand search of the car, he found a baggie with a large amount of cash in the center console. (R. 91:4.) Solomon is correct that having a baggie with a large amount of cash is not illegal. But "otherwise innocent conduct can

supply the required link in the chain to establish probable cause." *State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 17, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760. And a large quantity of cash inside a vehicle suspected of being involved in drug activity is consistent with drug activity and contributes to probable cause. *Stank*, 288 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 34. In any event, there was probable cause to search the car even without the baggie containing a large amount of cash.

As the circuit court recognized, "It's no surprise that the canine goes into the vehicle immediately because there's already an admission by the passenger that there was THC, that he smoked THC within that vehicle." (R. 91:8.) It makes no difference that the dog did not first sniff the exterior of the car but instead went into the car and searched its interior. There was probable cause to search the car, so a search of the car was justified, whether by an officer or a police dog. The circuit court was therefore correct to deny Solomon's motion to suppress evidence.

- IV. Even if this Court concluded that a constitutional violation occurred regarding the dog's search of the car, the evidence found in the background should not be suppressed because the evidence would inevitably have been discovered.
  - A. The exclusionary rule does not automatically apply when there is a constitutional violation.

The exclusionary rule does not automatically apply following a constitutional violation. See State v. Burch, 2021 WI 68, ¶¶ 16–17, 398 Wis. 2d 1, 961 N.W.2d 314. A circuit court does not ordinarily decide whether the exclusionary rule applies or whether an exception to its application applies unless it first determines that the State violated a defendant's Fourth Amendment rights. When the circuit court decides that no Fourth Amendment violation occurred, the issue of

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 19 of 23

remedy, i.e., the exclusionary rule's applicability, becomes a hypothetical question, which the circuit court would not ordinarily answer. "[C]ourts in general, will not consider a question the answer to which cannot have any practical effect upon an existing controversy." *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 13, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341 (citation omitted). Neither the State nor the circuit court has any reason to address whether the exclusionary rule applies when the circuit court finds no Fourth Amendment violation.

When the government obtains evidence following a constitutional violation, "the exclusionary rule requires courts to suppress evidence obtained through the exploitation of an illegal search or seizure." *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1. The purpose of the exclusion is to deter law enforcement from committing such violations. *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶ 46, 369 Wis. 2d 673, 882 N.W.2d 422. Specifically, "[c]ourts exclude evidence only when the benefits of deterring police misconduct outweigh the substantial costs to the truth-seeking and law enforcement objectives of the criminal justice system." *Id.* (citation omitted).

# B. Exclusion of evidence is inappropriate if the discovery of the evidence was inevitable even without the Fourth Amendment violation.

A well-established exception to the exclusionary rule is the inevitable discovery doctrine. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984); Jackson, 369 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 4. Under that doctrine, evidence that police seize that "is tainted by some illegal act may be admissible" if police would have discovered that tainted evidence by lawful means. Jackson, 369 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 47 (quoting State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 427, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996)). The inevitable discovery doctrine applies if the State can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that law enforcement would

Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 20 of 23

have inevitably discovered by lawful means the evidence sought to be suppressed. Jackson, 369 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 66.

### C. Discovery of the evidence in the backpack was inevitable.

The evidence that Solomon seeks to suppress was found in a backpack in the car. The backpack contained two firearms, crack cocaine and powder cocaine, digital scales, and cash. (R. 89:13.) The backpack was discovered during the dog's search of the car. (R. 89:12–13.) Solomon claims that the dog search was improper because the traffic stop was extended to wait for the dog, and the dog immediately entered the car. (Solomon's Br. 17–22.) As the State has explained, Solomon is incorrect; the search was entirely proper. But if this Court were to agree with Solomon, suppression would be inappropriate because discovery of the evidence in the backpack was inevitable without the dog search.

Deputy Valenti began to search the car before the K-9 unit was called. (R. 89:8.) He had authority to do that because there was probable cause of criminal activity. He testified that doing a full hand search of the car would have involved "rip[ping] apart" the car to look for hidden compartments containing evidence. (R. 89:24.) He said such a search might take 45 minutes. (R. 89:24.) But once he found a baggie containing a large amount of cash in the center console, the K-9 officer was called, and he stopped searching. (R. 89:9–10, 28–29.) Deputy Valenti testified that he had not completed his search when the dog was called. (R. 89:10.) He testified that he "would have continued the search if there was no canine available." (R. 89:29.)

If Deputy Valenti had continued his search, it is inevitable that he would have found the evidence Solomon seeks to suppress. After all, he was hand searching the car, and he was planning to search it thoroughly for hidden compartments. He did not complete the search, but he would Case 2022AP000634 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-31-2022 Page 21 of 23

have completed it if the dog had not been available. And the evidence was not found in a hidden compartment. It was found in a backpack. Under these circumstances, there seems little question that Deputy Valenti would have found the evidence. Therefore, even if the wait for the dog, or the dog's search was somehow improper, exclusion of the evidence found in the backpack would be unwarranted because it would have been inevitably discovered.

# D. If this Court were unable to determine whether the evidence would inevitably have been discovered, remand would be appropriate.

When this Court has disagreed with the circuit court and found a Fourth Amendment violation, it has remanded the case to the circuit court to determine whether an exception to the exclusionary rule applies. In *State v. Anker*, 2014 WI App 107, ¶ 27, 357 Wis. 2d 565, 855 N.W.2d 483, this Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether independent source or inevitable discovery applied. This Court did so even though the State had not argued inevitable discovery in the circuit court. *Id.* ¶ 26. Here if this Court were to determine that the dog search of the car was somehow improper, and it is unable to determine from the factual record whether the evidence would inevitably have been discovered, it should remand the case to the circuit court for that determination.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.